No. 45874-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

TODD E. SCHNEIDERMAN,

Appellant,

and

JULIE T. ROGERS,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KITSAP COUNTY THE HONORABLE JENNIFER FORBES

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BUCKLIN EVENS, PLLC

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Bradley A. Evens WSBA No. 23319 By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

7525 SE 24th Street, Suite 600 Mercer Island, WA 98040 (206) 230-5777 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

The parties were divorced in summer 2011 after a four-day trial to a referee who the parties agreed would decide their property disputes and make a nonmodifiable award of maintenance. A major point of contention at trial was appellant Todd Schneiderman's predicted income from his medical practice. The referee addressed all components of Dr. Schneiderman's income, including quarterly profit distributions, before awarding respondent Julie Rogers over half the marital estate, no debt, and almost \$1.2 million in maintenance over the next ten years. This court dismissed Rogers' appeal of the decree in October 2012 after she failed to file an opening brief.

More than two years after the parties were divorced, a new trial court judge with no prior exposure to these proceedings granted Rogers' motion to vacate the property division and maintenance award, on the grounds there was "clear and convincing evidence" that Dr. Schneiderman had engaged in "systematic misrepresentation regarding his income throughout the dissolution case." The trial court erred because Rogers did not move to vacate the decree in a "reasonable time," as required by CR 60. In any event, long before trial she, her attorneys, and her

experts were all well aware that Dr. Schneiderman received quarterly profit distributions that fluctuated depending on many factors, including hours worked, patients seen, and accounts receivable.

The trial court also erred in vacating the decree based on the misconduct of Dr. Schneiderman's former attorney in handling funds he held for the parties in trust. Dr. Schneiderman had no knowledge of his attorney's misconduct and should not be punished for it, especially when a new trial in these proceedings can in no way resolve whether the attorney misappropriated funds belonging to either party. This Court should reverse the order vacating the decree of dissolution, as well as the award of fees to Rogers, and reinstate the decree in full.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in entering its December 24, 2013, Order Vacating Spousal Maintenance Provisions And Asset/Liability Division Of Decree Of Dissolution dated October 14, 2011 and in entering the findings and conclusions in that Order underlined in attached Appendix A. (CP 869-78)
- 2. The trial court erred in entering its June 23, 2014, Order Re: Attorney Fees. (CP 2272-74)

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The wife filed a motion to vacate 364 days after the decree was entered, despite having known even before the decree was entered the basis for her motion her oft-professed claim that the husband was concealing his true income. The wife then filed an "amended' motion to vacate, nearly two years after entry of the decree and eleven months after filing her original motion, raising entirely new arguments. Did the wife fail to move to vacate the decree within a "reasonable time" as required by CR 60?
- 2. The husband disclosed from the beginning of these proceedings that his income included quarterly profit distributions that by their nature varied in amount. Before trial, he provided financial documents to the wife that disclosed his entire income, including six years of tax returns, and explained at trial that his "total annual income" included more than his base salary of \$35,000 per month from his medical practice. Did a new trial court judge, who did not preside over discovery or trial, err in finding that the wife had proven by clear and convincing evidence the husband's "systematic misrepresentation regarding his income throughout the dissolution case"? (CP 871)

- 3. The husband disclosed in discovery that his income included "[b]onus draws quarterly with actual bonus calculated annually based on each physician's production," and produced substantial documentation concerning his income, including six years of personal tax returns and balance sheets, five years of profit and loss statements, and a three-year cash flow projection for his medical practice. Did a new trial court judge, who did not preside over discovery or trial, err in finding that the husband committed "egregious and systemic discovery violations" that denied the wife the opportunity to fully and fairly present her case? (CP 873)
- 4. Years after trial in July 2011, the wife submitted as "newly discovered" evidence three different sets of documents, none of which had existed at the time of trial, concerning the husband's 2011 income and the misconduct of his former attorney. Did the trial court judge, who did not preside over either discovery or trial, err in concluding that these documents were "newly discovered" and that they would have changed the referee's prediction of the husband's future income at trial?
- 5. Without the husband's knowledge or authorization, his former attorney mishandled funds he was ordered to hold in trust for the parties and misreported his handling of those funds.

Did the trial court judge err in concluding that the misconduct of the husband's former attorney was a basis for vacating the decree of dissolution?

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. In preliminary proceedings, Superior Court Judge Haberly repeatedly addressed the husband's income, including his quarterly bonuses, and rejected the wife's allegations that he had failed to produce evidence regarding his income.

Todd Schneiderman and Julie Rogers married on April 29, 1990, and separated on October 17, 2009. (CP 96) Dr. Schneiderman is an eye surgeon. He owns Retina Center NW with his partner Dr. David Spinak. (CP 413, 581, 583) A third doctor joined the practice in 2010. (CP 424-25) At the time of their dissolution trial, Dr. Schneiderman's income from Retina Center NW consisted of two main components: (1) a \$30,000 monthly draw, plus a \$5,000 "management fee," and (2) quarterly distributions of profits, which the parties referred to as "bonuses." (CP 13-14, 413-15, 571-72, 575)¹ Unlike the monthly draws, the quarterly bonuses had neither set distribution dates nor amounts, but rather depended on a number of factors, including hours

¹ Dr. Schneiderman had also received an "income shift" from Dr. Spinak, the equivalent of a partnership buy-in, which gave Dr. Schneiderman 10% of Dr. Spinak's income for two years after Dr. Spinak became a partner in the practice in September 2008. (CP 420)

worked, patients seen, and accounts receivable. (CP 13-14, 415, 423, 572, 714) Dr. Schneiderman also owned minority interests in two other businesses, Medical Partners LLC and Kitsap Outpatient Surgery LLC. (CP 44, 294, 300)

Dr. Schneiderman petitioned for dissolution in December 2009. The case was assigned to Kitsap County Superior Court Judge Karlynn Haberly. In the parties' first Agreed Order, entered December 18, 2009, Rogers agreed that Dr. Schneiderman would pay joint expenses from his \$35,000 monthly draws, and that the parties would divide equally any remaining amounts from those They agreed "[d]ivision or use of Petitioner's future draws. quarterly bonus income/dividend" would abide further order or agreement. (CP 414, 451) In a hearing the same day, Rogers' attorney (the first of five to represent her in these proceedings) confirmed Dr. Schneiderman's income structure, stating Dr. *****\$30,000 Schneiderman took as base draw, \$5,000 administrative fee ... and then draws quarterly, once again, historically, between [\$]75[,000] and \$80,000." (CP 416, 447)

At a March 5, 2010, hearing Judge Haberly set a fixed monthly maintenance amount of \$10,000 for Rogers. (CP 414, 466, 524) Rogers' attorney again acknowledged that Dr. Schneiderman's

income consisted of more than his \$35,000 monthly draws. (CP 414, 457-58: "he has a gross monthly income of just under \$80,000 his net income ... is slightly in excess of \$60,000 per month") In addition to awarding \$10,000 monthly maintenance, Judge Haberly ordered that Rogers "should receive a minimum of \$6,000" from Dr. Schneiderman's "quarterly bonuses," and that the remaining bonus amounts should be held in trust by Dr. Schneiderman's then attorney, James Province, to await further distribution. (CP 414, 466, 524)

In September 2010, Rogers filed a motion to compel, alleging Dr. Schneiderman had failed to answer discovery requests regarding his income. (CP 382-86, 397, 421) Shortly thereafter, Dr. Schneiderman filed a motion to allocate bonus funds. (CP 417) In orders dated October 22, 2010, and November 5, 2010, Judge Haberly addressed both motions. (CP 523-25, 532-35) Judge Haberly denied Rogers' motion to compel, rejecting her allegations that Dr. Schneiderman had concealed information regarding his income. (CP 421, 429, 523-25, 532-35) Judge Haberly also addressed Dr. Schneiderman's income, finding that he "continues to receive \$35,000 per month from his practice and was allocated a first quarter bonus of \$70,000." (CP 417-18, 525, 533) Judge

Haberly released \$20,000 in bonus funds to Dr. Schneiderman and \$5,000 to Rogers. (CP 525, 533-34)

On January 28, 2011, on Dr. Schneiderman's motion, Judge Haberly ordered an additional \$40,000 in bonus funds awarded to Dr. Schneiderman, \$18,000 to Rogers, and the rest placed into Mr. Province's trust account to await distribution after trial. (CP 419-20, 548-50) Rogers filed no other discovery motions. (CP 429)

B. After a four-day trial in July 2011, an agreed referee specifically addressed the various components of Dr. Schneiderman's income, including his quarterly bonuses.

The parties jointly hired Steve Kessler as a business valuation expert. (CP 42, 281, 423, 571) Rogers hired her own experts, Thomas Sadler and Sandy Voit, as well. (CP 281, 423) The parties gave Mr. Kessler all documentation he requested, and Dr. Schneiderman provided access to Becky Reitinger, who provided financial consulting services for the practice. (CP 410) Both Mr. Kessler and Mr. Sadler used internal financial reports to value Dr. Schneiderman's share of Retina Center NW. (CP 423, 581, 736-46) Mr. Sadler did not request any documentation in addition to that the parties provided to Mr. Kessler. (CP 423-24, 569)

The parties stipulated to trial by attorney Robert Beattie, acting as a referee pursuant to RCW 4.48.130. (CP 76-77) Rogers was represented by Gig Harbor attorney Jeffrey Robinson; Dr. Schneiderman by Mr. Province. (CP 592) The parties hotly contested the outlook for Dr. Schneiderman's future income in the four-day trial before Referee Beattie in July 2011. Dr. Schneiderman testified that his monthly \$5,000 "managerial fee" would likely decrease and that he expected to earn additional quarterly bonuses between \$150,000 to \$200,000 in 2011. (CP 12, 572) Dr. Schneiderman also testified that he expected to earn less because his "income shift" from Dr. Spinak had ended in September 2010, and because of proposed cuts to Medicare. (CP 990-91) Rogers dismissed Dr. Schneiderman's "prophecy" that his income would decrease, testifying that based on her "intimate knowledge" of Dr. Schneiderman's income, which her expert calculated as \$63,688 per month, it would increase. (CP 416, 570-71, 577-78) The parties submitted as joint exhibits their 2008-2010 tax returns. (CP 423, 593)

While commending the parties for their presentation of evidence (CP 581: "I have never actually seen so much information poured into a professional practice"), Referee Beattie recognized

that "[t]he dilemma always is to figure out what is future income." (CP 583) Emphasizing that he did not "have a crystal ball" (CP 580), Referee Beattie did not wholly adopt either party's position. Referee Beattie rejected Dr. Schneiderman's reduced income estimates and projected that his future income would be "\$55,000 per month," relying on Dr. Schneiderman's 2010 income as "most reflective of future income." (CP 583-84) Referee Beattie adopted "wife's expert testimony regarding husband's medical practice" for determining the value of Dr. Schneiderman's share of Retina Center NW. (CP 98, 581)

C. Rogers was awarded over half the marital estate, debt free, and almost \$1.2 million in maintenance, which the parties agreed would be nonmodifiable.

Referee Beattie awarded Rogers monthly maintenance of \$11,000 from August 2011 through July 2018 and \$7,000 from August 2018 to July 2021, totaling \$1,176,000. (CP 81, 99) Referee Beattie found that this maintenance award would meet Rogers' needs "at 100 percent" and cover her "budget . . . in its entirety." (CP 432, 586-87)² The parties had stipulated that "any

² Based on the recommendation of a guardian ad litem, Dr. Schneiderman was designated the primary residential parent for their still dependent younger daughter, then age 15. (CP 97, 427-28) Dr. Schneiderman has full financial responsibility for both daughters, including their post-secondary education. (CP 282, 427-28, 433)

maintenance awarded shall be non-modifiable in amount or duration for any reason." (CP 77)

Referee Beattie concluded "that it is fair and equitable and appropriate to award all bonuses not paid out yet and all future bonuses from husband's medical practice to husband and wife shall not receive any portion thereof." (CP 99; see also CP 420, 588: "In the event there are any additional bonus payouts, those are awarded to Todd.") Referee Beattie also concluded that a "fair, equitable and appropriate" property distribution required a "disproportionate split of the community assets (with wife receiving 53% and husband receiving 47%)." (CP 98) Referee Beattie awarded Rogers \$1,480,176 in assets, nearly all liquid, requiring Dr. Schneiderman to sign a \$250,000 promissory note "to balance the net estate." (CP 84, 86-87, 98, 432) Referee Beattie also awarded Rogers all funds still held in trust by Mr. Province. (CP 86)

Judge Haberly confirmed Referee Beattie's decree and findings of facts and conclusions of law on October 14, 2011. (CP 79-100) The decree reflected the parties' agreement that maintenance would be nonmodifiable. (CP 81, 99) On October 19, 2011, Mr. Province issued a \$125,296 check to Rogers' attorney,

representing that this was the amount he held in trust for the parties. (CP 185)

Rogers appealed Judge Haberly's order confirming Referee Beattie's decree. This Court dismissed her appeal in October 2012 after Rogers failed to file an opening brief. (CP 413)

D. Dr. Schneiderman's former attorney was found to have engaged in trust account misconduct.

Based on a grievance filed by Rogers, the Washington State Bar Association's Office of Disciplinary Counsel investigated Rogers' allegations of misconduct by Mr. Province, including trust account violations implicating these parties and others, after the parties' decree was entered. (CP 182-216) In a March 2013 letter, the WSBA told Rogers that it had found that Mr. Province had twice mishandled the parties' trust funds: Once when he transferred \$14,000 of their money to his operating account between October and December 2010, when it was not clear he had earned those funds, and again on December 9, 2010, when he "wir[ed] \$30,000 to [another client] drawn on the funds of Dr. Schneiderman and Ms. Rogers." (CP 184-86, 431)

The WSBA did not find that Mr. Province permanently deprived the parties of any funds, stating it was "unable to

determine . . . if Ms. Rogers ultimately received all money owed to her." (CP 185, 431-32) The WSBA found Mr. Province had engaged in other wrongdoing, including giving a false accounting of his transactions to Rogers and her lawyer, and delaying deposit of Dr. Schneiderman's income into his trust account. (CP 183, 186) On the WSBA's recommendation and pursuant to ELC 7.3, the Supreme Court suspended Mr. Province from practicing law on July 1, 2013. (CP 216)

Dr. Schneiderman had no knowledge of Mr. Province's wrongdoing. (CP 427) When the WSBA asked him to aid in its investigation, Dr. Schneiderman declined. He wanted to move on from the 19-month divorce, which had left him drained emotionally, physically, and financially. (CP 185, 427-28) The WSBA made no finding that Dr. Schneiderman was involved in Mr. Province's wrongdoing, noting only that he "declined to cooperate with the Association's investigation." (CP 185)

E. A new judge vacated the decree in December 2013.

On October 12, 2012, 364 days after the decree was entered, Rogers (through her fourth attorney) filed a motion seeking an order to show cause "why the Decree of Dissolution . . . should not be vacated" under CR 60(b)(1), (5), and (11), arguing that Dr.

Schneiderman had presented "patently false testimony" by "testify[ing] that he only made \$35,000/month." (CP 1-6) Kitsap County Court Commissioner Thurman Lowans denied Rogers' motion to show cause and set it over for consideration by Judge Haberly. (CP 56, 167) On December 21, 2012, Judge Haberly ruled that she would not hear the merits of Rogers' motion to vacate due to her pending retirement. (CP 180)

Rogers took no action on her motion for eight more months. On August 12, 2013, Rogers (through her fifth attorney) filed an "amended" motion to show cause why the court should not vacate the property division and maintenance provisions in the decree of dissolution. (CP 57-74) Rogers argued that Dr. Schneiderman had lied about his income at trial by "repeatedly testif[ying] under oath that he had a net income of only \$35,000 per month." (CP 69) Rogers also argued that a spreadsheet, prepared by the parties' CPA after trial for tax purposes, demonstrated that Dr. Schneiderman earned \$108,686 per month in the first six months of 2011, purportedly contrary to his testimony at trial. (CP 70-71, 140) Additionally, Rogers argued for the first time that the decree should be vacated because of "Mr. Province's misconduct and criminal acts as they relate to the funds held in his trust account." (CP 67-68)

On September 13, 2013, Kitsap Superior Court Judge Jennifer Forbes granted Rogers' motion to show cause. (CP 901-02) The parties then engaged in a third round of briefing. (CP 399-611, 621-865, 884-1195) In her third motion to vacate the decree, Rogers submitted documents, obtained through a Freedom of Information Act request, regarding Medicare reimbursements Retina Center NW had received in 2011. (CP 893-94, 904-05)

On December 24, 2013, Judge Forbes granted Rogers' CR 60 motion and vacated the property distribution and spousal maintenance provisions in the decree of dissolution and set the matter for a new trial. (CP 869-78) Judge Forbes found that there evidence of Petitioner's "clear and convincing was misconduct regarding his income misrepresentation and throughout the dissolution case and at the trial before referee." (CP 870-71) Despite having not read the trial transcript (which had been filed in conjunction with Rogers' aborted appeal), nor having presided over discovery, Judge Forbes concluded that Dr. Schneiderman "regularly indicated to the court, Respondent, and the referee that his income was \$35,000 per month and that any additional distributions were not predictable or reliable, even though the evidence shows that Petitioner consistently received quarterly distributions." (CP 870) Judge Forbes also concluded that the decree should be vacated based on Dr. Schneiderman's "egregious and systemic discovery violations," Rogers' "newly discovered" evidence, and Mr. Province's misconduct. (CP 871-77)

On June 23, 2014, Judge Forbes awarded Rogers \$58,467 in attorney fees for the CR 60 proceedings, finding Dr. Schneiderman "engaged in a pattern of intransigent conduct." (CP 2272-74)

Dr. Schneiderman appeals the orders vacating the decree and awarding fees. (866-79)

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court owes no deference to Judge Forbes' order vacating Referee Beattie's decree, which she entered having not presided over the trial in which the alleged fraud was committed.

Judge Forbes did not preside over the trial in this action; Referee Beattie did. Nor did Judge Forbes confirm Referee Beattie's decree; Judge Haberly did. Judge Forbes saw no live testimony requiring her to assess witness credibility. Nor had she presided over discovery. Instead, Judge Forbes based her decision vacating the decree entirely on a documentary record that contained only limited portions of the proceedings before Referee Beattie and Judge Haberly.

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