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

IV. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO APPEAL. 

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW. 

A motion to vacate is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial

court. Jones v. City ofSeattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 338, 314 P. 3d 380, 388

2013). However, Schneiderman argues this Court should review the trial

court' s order de novo. Br. Appellant, at 16. He argues this Court " owes

no deference" to the trial judge' s order because the judge did not preside

over the trial " in which the alleged fraud was committed." Id. 

First, Schneiderman cannot mean to hamstring the superior court

by requiring only certain judges hear certain motions. State v. Caughlan, 
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40 Wn.2d 729, 732, 246 P.2d 485 ( 1952) ( the authority of all judges in a

county is identical). Indeed, a particular judge cannot retain jurisdiction

over a case for that reason. Id. 

Second, it bears noting that the misconduct here was not confined

to trial; it was pervasive and in documents. See, e. g., CP 870 ( court' s

finding misconduct went beyond instances cited by Rogers). 

Nevertheless, Schneiderman argues that because Judge Forbes reviewed

a documentary record," this Court " is in as good a position" as she to

decide whether Schneiderman engaged in prohibited acts. Br. Appellant, 

at 16 -17.
15

In effect, Schneiderman wants this Court to review everything

and come to its own conclusions, ignoring the deference this Court

accords to the trial court' s resolution of this kind of factual dispute. See In

re Marriage ofLangham and Kolde, 153 Wn.2d 553, 559, 106 P. 3d 212

2005) ( de novo review is appropriate only if the record consists solely of

documentary evidence and credibility is not an issue). Indeed, " where the

proceeding at the trial court turned on credibility determinations and a

factual finding of bad faith, it seems entirely appropriate for a reviewing

15Schneiderman argues this Court has the " same ` record "' as Judge Forbes. Br. 

Appellant, at 18. Yet, he notes the record before her " contained only limited portions" of
the trial to the referee and complains that she did not read the entire trial. Br. Appellant, 

at 15 and 16. But he did not provide it to her! The transcript was at the Court of

Appeals, for Rogers' appeal and has now been transferred to this cause per

Schneiderman' s request. Schneiderman wants this Court to review more of the record

than was before Judge Forbes, which seems at odds with his many homages to finality. 
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court to apply a substantial evidence standard of review." In re Marriage

ofRideout, 150 Wn.2d 337, 351, 77 P.3d 1174, 1180 ( 2003); see, also, 

Dalton v. State, 130 Wn. App. 653, 656, 124 P.3d 305, 306 ( 2005) 

appellate tribunal is not permitted to weigh evidence or credibility). 

Our Supreme Court has noted this deference is especially

appropriate in family law cases. See Marriage ofRideout, 150 Wn.2d at

350 -353 ( contempt proceedings); In re Parentage ofJannot, 149 Wn.2d

123, 126 -128, 65 P.3d 664 ( 2003) ( parenting plan modification). Our

court has recognized " that a trial judge generally evaluates fact based

domestic relations issues more frequently than an appellate judge and a

trial judge's day -to -day experience warrants deference on review." 

Jannot, 149 Wn.2d at 127; see, also, Rideout, 150 Wn.2d at 351. 

Schneiderman ignores this pertinent authority and cites an old

federal case where the plaintiff twitched when she testified about her head

injuries. Br. Appellant, at 17, citing Atchison, T. & S. F. R. Co. v. Barrett, 

246 F.2d 846 ( 9th Cir. 1957). This may be one good reason to defer to

fact - finders, but it is not the only reason. Experience and expertise also

justify deference, as our courts and the federal courts have repeatedly held. 

In any case, Judge Forbes could see if the parties twitched at the hearings. 

In short, in Washington, the standard of review of a trial court' s

decision on a CR 60 motion remains abuse of discretion, including with
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deference to the court' s factual findings, which are reviewed for

substantial evidence. This standard is particularly important here given

the centrality of credibility to the trial court' s decision. 

Nevertheless, Schneiderman asserts this Court should follow

federal authority. This does not help him, since the United States Supreme

Court has determined " Rule 60(b) proceedings are subject to only limited

and deferential appellate review." Gonzalez v. Crosby, 545 U.S. 524, 535, 

125 S. Ct. 2641, 2649, 162 L.Ed.2d 480, 494 (2005). As in Washington, 

this deference is due not only to the superior position from which a trial

judge may determine credibility, but to experience. Anderson v. Bessemer

City, 470 U.S. 564, 574, 105 S. Ct. 1504, 1512, 84 L.Ed.2d 518, 529

1985) ( " with experience in fulfilling [ fact- finder] role comes expertise. "). 

Accordingly, the " clearly erroneous" standard applies under

federal law, " even when the district court' s findings do not rest on

credibility determinations, but are based instead on physical or

documentary evidence or inferences from other facts." Anderson, 470

U.S. at 574. As the U.S. Supreme Court has noted, there is little to gain

and much to be lost by duplication of the trial judge' s efforts by the

appellate court, including " a huge cost in diversion of judicial resources." 

Id., at 574 -575. Additionally, requiring a party to persuade three more

judges of his or her position, having already persuaded a trial judge, is
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requiring too much." Id., at 575. This Court, undertaking the same labor

as Judge Forbes, would reach the same conclusions. But the cost of

adopting a de novo standard, to the court and to Rogers and the law, is

plainly too high. In short, it makes no more sense here, than it does in

federal court, to essentially moot the entire trial court proceeding. 

Nor do the administrative law cases Schneiderman cites help him. 

Br. Appellant, at 18. One involves the trial court' s review of a hearing

officer' s decision, which is de novo, but notes that review of the hearing

officer' s factual determination is under the " clearly erroneous" standard. 

Griffith v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 165 Wn. App. 663, 670, 266 P. 3d 932

2011). In the other case, the superior court' s decision was given no

deference by the appellate court, but the hearing board' s decision was, 

including review of facts for " substantial evidence." Willowbrook Farms

v. Dep' t. ofEcology, 116 Wn. App. 392, 397, 66 P. 3d 664 ( 2003). In

short, review of the administrative trier -of -fact findings is not de novo. 

Finally, an important principle bearing on the question in this case, 

which could only rarely, if ever, arise in the federal context, is the fact of

this being a family law case. As noted, our Supreme Court has twice (in

Rideout and Jannot) declared trial level judicial officers to be in a better

position, experientially, to address factual issues, in contempt proceedings

and in parenting plan modifications. Presumably, this same standard
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would apply to child support modifications, which are almost always

determined on the basis of documentary evidence, as are many other

family law proceedings. Jannot, 149 Wn.2d at 128 ( noting the application

of this standard in such proceedings). 

This Court has also suggested deference is due the trial court

because it "has the benefit of oral argument to clarify conflicts in the

record." In re Marriage ofStern, 68 Wn. App. 922, 928, 846 P.2d 1387

1993). In fact, Judge Forbes made use of this opportunity by inquiring, 

for example, whether Schneiderman had any evidence, apart from his bald

assertion, that he earned the majority of his 2011 income in the latter half

of the year. RP ( 09/ 17/ 13) 22. ( He conceded he did not. Id., at 23.) See, 

also, RP ( 12/ 02/ 13) 32 ( additional inquiry). 

Essentially, Schneiderman asks this Court to assume the position

of a superior court judge in relation to a motion to revise a family court

commissioner' s order. However, longstanding Washington law holds the

proper standard of review to be deferential where the trial court must

resolve conflicting evidence, whether the evidence is by live testimony or

documents. As discussed below, Schneiderman fails to demonstrate

Judge Forbes in any way abused her discretion. 
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B. SCHNEIDERMAN OBJECTS FOR THE FIRST TIME THAT

ROGERS' FAILED TO SEEK RELIEF WITHIN A

REASONABLE TIME," AN ARGUMENT WHICH, IN ANY

CASE, FAILS. 

Schneiderman claims Rogers' motion was not made within a

reasonable time," as CR 60 requires. Br. Appellant, at 19 -22. He makes

this argument for the first time on appeal. See RAP 2. 5 ( a); Jones, 179

Wn.2d at 322 ( declining to address arguments not made to the trial court

in CR 60 motion). The objection he made below was directed at the one - 

year deadline for motions based on the newly discovered evidence prong

CR 60( b)( 3)) and sought as a remedy the exclusion of evidence produced

after Rogers' initial motion to vacate ( i.e., after 10/ 12/ 12). See, CP 283; 

see, also, RP ( 09/ 17/ 13) 33 ( court addressing the objection). He did not

argue, in his responses to Rogers' motions, that the " reasonable time" 

requirement was violated. CP 47 -49, 50 -55, 399 -408. 

This matters because a trial court' s discretionary decision on

w] hat constitutes a reasonable time depends on the facts and

circumstances of each case." Luckett v. Boeing Co., 98 Wn. App. 307, 

312, 989 P.2d 1144, 1147 ( 1999). The trial court did not consider, or

make findings, regarding these " facts and circumstances" because

Schneiderman did not address to the trial court the argument he makes

now. He did not argue then, but argues now, that Rogers had " no

explanation" (" inexplicably"; " without any explanation for her delay ") for

25



not having filed sooner. Br. Appellant, at 19 -22. The complaint itself is

ironic, insofar as the heart of the problem here is Schneiderman' s

concerted effort to conceal his wealth from his wife and the court, as

Rogers in fact explained in her supporting declaration. CP 3 -6. Yet, for

the first time on appeal, he asks this Court to hold Rogers dilatory for not

getting sooner the information he was doing everything to keep from her. 

Irony aside, as a practical matter, had Schneiderman made his

reasonable time" argument at the trial level, Rogers could have

elaborated upon the " facts and circumstances" surrounding the timing of

the motion and the court could have ruled.
16

This Court, then, would have

reviewed the trial court' s decision for an abuse of discretion. Luckett, 98

Wn. App. at 309. Here, again, Schneiderman treats this Court as the trial

court. He does not want just a complete second bite at the apple, as he

argues in his standard of review section; he wants a first bite. 

In any case, it is not a very good argument. Schneiderman played

keep away" with the evidence and now complains that he was good at it. 

Indeed, perhaps if not for Rogers' persistence in the face of Province' s

dissembling and the fortuity of CPA Forde sending her the 2011 income

information, Schneiderman might have gotten away with it. 

16 This problem also arose in In re Marriage ofLeslie, 112 Wn.2d 612, 617, 772 P.2d
1013, 1016 ( 1989), where the wife first raised laches in her appeal, which left the

husband without " an opportunity at trial level to present explanations for the delay[.]" 
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Even apart from this obvious explanation, Washington law affords

many examples of how the " reasonable time" yardstick flexes to suit the

facts and circumstances" of particular cases. See, e.g., In re Marriage of

Leslie, 112 Wn.2d 612, 772 P.2d 1013, 1016 ( 1989) ( eight years, under

CR 60(b)( 5)); In re Marriage of Thurston, 92 Wn. App. 494, 963 P.2d

947, 950 ( 1998) ( 19 months, under CR 60(b)( 11)); In re Marriage of

Maddix, 41 Wn. App. 248, 703 P.2d 1062, 1065 ( 1985) ( 20 months). As

observed in Thurston, the " mere passage of time ... is not controlling "; 

rather, " a triggering event ... may arise well after entry of the

judgment...." Id. What a court must consider is whether the nonmoving

party is prejudiced by the delay and whether the moving party has a reason

not to have acted sooner. Id.; see, also, Maddix, 41 Wn. App. at 252

using laches analysis); Thurston, 92 Wn. App. at 502 ( prejudice other

than cost and loss of finality). As noted in Thurston, the federal rule is

also flexible. 92 Wn. App. at 502. 

This laches analysis is crucial because the purpose of the time

requirements is not to impede but to facilitate justice. Yet Schneiderman

never explains the prejudice to him from the " delay" about which he

complains, whereas Rogers describes at length her efforts to get at the

facts. 
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Moreover, any argument by Schneiderman about prejudice would

have to deal with his contribution to delay, not merely substantively ( i.e., 

the misconduct), but procedurally, meaning the efforts he made to derail

Rogers' original motion. CP 47 -49, 50 -55. As described above, when

Rogers gave him courtesy notice, he baselessly impeded her getting a

show cause order. CR 60( e)( 2); In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against

Ferguson, 170 Wn.2d 916, 932, 246 P. 3d 1236, 1245 ( 2011) ( " CR 60( e) 

requires the court to schedule a show cause hearing and requires the party

seeking relief to provide notice to the opposing party prior to this future

hearing "); Maddix, 41 Wn. App. at 252 ( reversed because trial court did

not grant hearing). Schneiderman blames Rogers for delay, yet he did not

behave like someone in a hurry to adjudicate the merits.'? 

Once Judge Haberly declined to hear the motion, the issue hardly

went dormant. The WSBA was investigating and, when it issued its

report, Rogers' counsel withdrew. CP 223 -227. Rogers had difficulty

retaining new counsel, given the size and collegiality of the Kitsap County

family law bar. CP 65. Nevertheless, Rogers succeeded by August in

17For some reason, Schneiderman continues to refer to the delay as a " two -year delay." 
See, e. g., Br. Appellant, at 22. For what it' s worth, the original motion was filed within
12 months of trial; from final orders to the amended motion to vacate is 22 months, at

least four of which have to be attributed to Schneiderman' s delays. Of course, more

pertinently, it is his " tangled web - weaving" conduct that necessitated the painstaking
investigation in the first place. Schneiderman makes this kind of computational error in a

number of places — e. g., seven day trial, instead of four day. CP 282. 
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getting her CR 60 motion back on track for issuance of a show cause

order. 

Schneiderman also argues Rogers already knew the basis for her

CR 60 motion, so should have filed it immediately after trial. Br. 

Appellant, at 20. Certainly, Rogers suspected, and argued, Schneiderman

was dissembling. She and her attorneys, made every effort to gain an

accurate picture of Schneiderman' s income. Schneiderman frustrated

those efforts, including by persuading judicial officers he was telling all. 

See, e. g., CP 1025 -1195. What Rogers gained after trial was evidence of

Schneiderman' s deception, which formed the basis of her motion. Rogers

may have known Schneiderman was not telling the truth, but she had to

prove it. For that, the evidence came later — the Forde spreadsheet ( 4/ 12), 

the WSBA report (03/ 13), the Medicare information for 2009 -2012

10/ 29/ 13) ( CP 904 -905). Judge Forbes recognized the materiality of this

evidence and its unavailability prior to trial. CP 875 -877. No doubt, 

additional evidence will be revealed in the upcoming trial. Having woven

the web, Schneiderman should not be heard to complain how difficult it

has been to untangle it. 

Schneiderman also argues Rogers may not amend her CR 60( b) 

motion " as a means for raising untimely arguments." Br. Appellant, at 21. 

For all the reasons discussed above, Schneiderman' s " reasonable time" 
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complaint is meritless. In any case, Schneiderman ignores Judge Forbes' 

insight into the interplay between the " newly discovered evidence" in this

case and the CR 60( b)( 4) prong, noting " the rule contemplates that when

you discover fraud, you are probably discovering newly discovered

evidence." RP ( 09/ 17/ 13) 33. Thus, she rejected Schneiderman' s

argument to exclude evidence produced subsequent to the original

10/ 12/ 12) motion to vacate. Id. She also explained at length how the

evidence was not accessible by Rogers before trial. CP 875 -877. 

Here, Schneiderman slightly recasts his earlier argument as being

about " relation- back" ( Br. Appellant, at 21), but that does not work

because of its faulty premise that only the one -year deadline applied to

Rogers' motion.'$ CR 60( b)( 4) does not have any time limit, beyond the

reasonable time" limit. If anything, Rogers' original motion was

premature. In any case, Schneiderman offers no authority, nor any good

reason why the court should ignore the evidence of misconduct. 

1$ 

This fact (and many others) distinguishes this case from the federal case cited by
Schneiderman. Br. Appellant, at 21, citing Sorbo v. United Parcel Serv., 432 F. 3d 1169
10th

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